FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
11/20/2024
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

No. 39596-1-III

Case #: 1036108

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON



HEIDI COOPER, *Petitioner*,

COURT OF APPEALS
DIVISION III
STATE OF WASHINGTON

VS.

EAGLE POINTE ICG, LLC, and SECURITY PROPERTIES RESIDENTIAL, LLC, *Respondents*.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Attorneys for Petitioner

BRIAN G CAMERON, WSBA #44905 SHAYNE J SUTHERLAND, WSBA #44593 Cameron Sutherland, PLLC 905 W. Riverside Ave., Ste 404 Spokane, WA 99201 TEL. (509) 315-4507

A.	IDENTITY OF PETITIONER
В.	COURT OF APPEALS DECISION
C.	ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW5
D.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE6
E.	ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED
F.	CONCLUSION21
Αŀ	PPENDICES23
	Cooper v. Eagle Pointe ICG, LLC, No. 39596-1-III, 2024 Wn. App. LEXIS 1856 (Ct. App. Sep. 17, 2024)
C.	University of Washington Washington Center for Real Estate Research Subsidized Rental Housing Inventory 2023

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Cases	
Cooper v. Eagle Pointe ICG, LLC,	
No. 39596-1-III, 2024 Wn. App. LEXIS 1856	
(Ct. App. Sep. 17, 2024)passim	
Silver v. Rudeen Mgmt. Co.,	
10 Wn. App. 2d 676 (2019)4, 7, 10, 13	
Lian v. Stalik,	
106 Wn. App. 811 (2001)20	
Naches Valley Sch. Dist. No. JT3 v. Cruzen,	
54 Wn. App. 388, 399 (1989)20	
State v. Douty,	
92 Wn.2d 930, 936, 603 P.2d 373 (1979)	
Randy Reynolds & Assocs. v. Harmon,	
193 Wn.2d 143, 156, 437 P.3d 677 (2019)	
Gebreseralse v. Columbia Debt Recovery,	
24 Wn. App. 2d 650, 658, 521 P.3d 221 (2022)	
Statutes	
RCW 59.18, et seq.,6	
RCW 59.18.255	
RCW 59.18.255(1)	
RCW 59.18.255(1)(c)	
RCW 59.18.255(4)21	
Rules	
RAP 13.4(b)(1)-(2)	
RAP 13.4(b)(4)	
RAP 18.1	

A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Petitioner Heidi Cooper asks this Court to accept review of the Division III Court of Appeals' decision designated in Part B herein.

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Ms. Cooper asks this Court to review the Division III Court of Appeals' unpublished Opinion, Cooper v. Eagle Pointe ICG, LLC, No. 39596-1-III, 2024 Wn. App. LEXIS 1856 (Ct. App. Sep. 17, 2024), ruling that landlords who set higher rental rates for "Section 8" Housing Choice Voucher participants than other tenants for the same rental unit does not constitute an unlawful "distinction, discrimination, or restriction against a prospective tenant or current tenant in the price, terms, conditions, fees, or privileges relating to the rental, lease, or occupancy of real property" in violation of the Sourceof-Income-Based (SOID) discrimination provisions of Washington's Residential Landlord-Tenant Act (RLTA) under RCW 59.18.255.

It is undisputed in this case that Ms. Cooper's landlords set higher rental rates for current and prospective tenants who are "Section 8" housing assistance participants than it sets for other tenants seeking or renting identical rental units. *Cooper*, No. 39596-1-III, 2024 Wn. App. LEXIS 1856, at *1-2; CP 135 (landlords' written confirmation that the rental rates for a particular apartment "are \$943 with out [sic] voucher and with [Section 8] voucher is \$1190."); *also* CP 58-61; SN 17, 2:13-14, 2:19-20).

Acknowledging this distinction between rental rates set for "Section 8" tenants and those for other tenants – in this case those who qualified Ms. Cooper's landlords for certain tax benefits – the Division III Court of Appeals ruled that it was not Ms. Cooper who was being charged a different rate than other tenants, but other tenants who were being charged a different

¹ The lower court erroneously states that the evidence cited herein is not in the record below. *Cooper*, No. 39596-1-III, 2024 Wn. App. LEXIS 1856, at *17, *18, *19.

different rate than her. Cooper, No. 39596-1-III, 2024 Wn. App. LEXIS 1856, at *18 ("... it is the tenants in the Tax Credit Program that pay a different rate, not Ms. Cooper."). In so ruling, the lower court afforded special deference to the business interests of Ms. Cooper's landlords, noting that "[b]y complying with the regulations from each [federal] program, Security Properties is able to sustain its business model while continuing to provide options for low-income tenants." Id. The court below also imputed an "unreasonable rent" standard into its RCW 59.18.255 analysis, finding that "[h]ere, there is no evidence or allegation that the rent Security Properties charges Ms. Cooper is not reasonable according to the method established by the [federal] regulations." *Id.* at *19. No such burden of proof appears anywhere under the plain language of RCW 59.18.255.

In its ruling, Division III does not appear to consider fundamental principles that guide the interpretation and application of the RLTA. Specifically, as a remedial statute,

be strictly construed by courts "in favor of the tenant," and liberally construed "to accomplish the purpose for which it was enacted." *Silver v. Rudeen Mgmt. Co.*, 197 Wn.2d 535, 548, 484 P.3d 1251, 1257 (2021) (citing cases); *State v. Douty*, 92 Wn.2d 930, 936, 603 P.2d 373 (1979); *Randy Reynolds & Assocs. v. Harmon*, 193 Wn.2d 143, 156, 437 P.3d 677 (2019). The absence of these considerations in a ruling that narrows the application of the RLTA's anti-discrimination provisions necessitates some clarification and/or confirmation as to how the provisions of RCW 59.18.255 might apply to similar fact patterns and circumstances.

Because the lower court's decision presents issues of first impression affecting hundreds of thousands of Washington tenants who participate in housing assistance programs, and because the decision introduces apparent inconsistencies and conflicts with the state's existing RLTA jurisprudence, Ms. Cooper petitions this Court for review.

A copy of the appellate court's unpublished Opinion is in Appendix A herein.

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Does setting a rental rate for current or prospective "Section 8" Housing Voucher Program recipients that is higher than the rate set for other tenants for the same rental unit constitute an unlawful "distinction, discrimination, or restriction against a prospective tenant or current tenant in the price, terms, conditions, fees, or privileges relating to the rental, lease, or occupancy of real property" in violation of Washington's Residential Landlord-Tenant Act, RCW 59.18.255?
- 2. May landlords set higher rates for "Section 8" tenants than they set for other tenants for the same rental unit if landlords can capitalize from federal tax benefits by doing so?
- 3. Must tenants who are subjected to higher rental rates based on their source of income also demonstrate that the

higher rate is "unreasonable" to vindicate a claim under RCW 59.18.255?

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Ms. Cooper, on behalf of herself and a putative class of residential tenants, sued her landlords, Eagle Pointe ICG, LLC, and Security Properties Residential, LLC, for setting higher rental rates for current and prospective tenants participating in "Section 8" housing voucher programs under 42 USC § 1437f (also 24 CFR § 982) than the rental rates they set for other current and prospective tenants for the same rental unit in violation of Washington's Residential Landlord-Tenant Act (RLTA), RCW 59.18, *et seq*.

More specifically, the RLTA prohibits landlords from engaging in source-of-income based discrimination (SOID) by making "any distinction, discrimination, or restriction against a prospective tenant or current tenant in the price, terms, conditions, fees, or privileges relating to the rental, lease, or occupancy of real property or in the furnishing of any facilities

or services in connection with the rental, lease, or occupancy of real property," RCW 59.18.255(1)(c), among other actions, "based on the source of income of an otherwise eligible prospective tenant or current tenant." RCW 59.18.255(1). The statute defines "source of income" to include "benefits or subsidy programs including housing assistance, public assistance, emergency rental assistance, veterans benefits, social security, supplemental security income or other retirement programs, and other programs administered by any federal, state, local, or nonprofit entity." As this Court has consistently affirmed throughout the RLTA's long tenure, "[t]he RLTA is a remedial statute that must be 'construed liberally in order to accomplish the purpose for which it is enacted." Silver v. Rudeen Mgmt. Co., 197 Wn.2d 535, 548, 484 P.3d 1251, 1257 (2021) (citing cases); see also Gebreseralse v. Columbia Debt Recovery, 24 Wn. App. 2d 650, 658, 521 P.3d 221 (2022) (The RLTA must be strictly construed by courts "in favor of the tenant," and liberally

construed "to accomplish the purpose for which it was enacted.").

In this case, it is undisputed that Eagle Pointe ICG, LLC, and Security Properties Residential, LLC, intentionally and systematically set a higher rental rate, for the same rental unit, for current and prospective tenants participating in "Section 8" housing assistance programs than the rental rate it offered to tenants who are not "Section 8" participants.² *Cooper*, No. 39596-1-III, 2024 Wn. App. LEXIS 1856, at *1-2. Ms. Cooper's landlords set these higher rental rates for Section 8 participants for no other reason than their participation in that particular housing assistance program. (CP 58-61; SN 17, 2:13-

² In her briefing to the Court of Appeals, Ms. Cooper offered undisputed evidence that the disparities in rental rates were adverse to Section 8 tenants, noting her own landlords' written confirmation that the rental rates for a particular apartment "are \$943 with out [sic] voucher and with [Section 8] voucher is \$1190." CP 135. Throughout the course of this litigation, Eagle Pointe ICG, LLC, and Security Properties Residential, LLC, have consistently and repeatedly acknowledged the same. (CP 58-61; SN 17, 2:13-14, 2:19-20).

14, 2:19-20). Ms. Cooper alleges that this practice violates the RLTA's anti-discrimination provisions under RCW 59.18.255.

The court below disagreed, essentially finding that Ms. Cooper's landlords weren't setting *higher* rates for Section 8 tenants, as much as they were setting *lower* rates for non-Section 8 tenants. Cooper, No. 39596-1-III, 2024 Wn. App. LEXIS 1856, at *18. ("The two programs at issue here presume that the tenants in the Voucher Program will pay [higher] rent at or near market rates, while tenants in the Tax Credit Program will pay a reduced rent."). In making such a finding, the lower court was especially concerned about preserving landlords' preferred business models, noting that, because federal laws permitted setting unequal rates based on tenants' sources of income, "by complying with the regulations from each program, Security Properties is able to sustain its business model while continuing to provide options for lowincome tenants," Cooper, No. 39596-1-III, 2024 Wn. App. LEXIS 1856, at *18.

Division III also found that setting higher rental rates based on tenants' participation in Section 8 was not prohibited discrimination under the RLTA, because Ms. Cooper's landlords were just setting *lower* rates for non-"Section 8" tenancies so they could take advantage of certain tax credits, which were ultimately a financial benefit to the landlords, "not a source of income for any of the tenants at properties managed by Security Properties." Cooper, No. 39596-1-III, 2024 Wn. App. LEXIS 1856, at *19-20. The lower court did not address how this interpretation of otherwise plain statutory language ensured that the RLTA's anti-discrimination section was strictly construed "in favor of the tenant" and liberally construed "to accomplish the purpose for which it was enacted." Gebreseralse, 24 Wn. App. 2d at 658, 521 P.3d at 221; Silver, 197 Wn.2d at 548, 484 P.3d at 1257.

After Division III filed its unpublished decision on September 17, 2024, Eagle Pointe ICG, LLC, and Security Properties Residential, LLC, moved for publication, which the

Court of Appeals subsequently denied. Ms. Cooper thereafter timely filed her Petition for Review herein.

The issues presented to this Court for review appear to be issues of first impression.

E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

This Court may accept a petition for review of a Court of Appeals decision if the decision conflicts with other decisions of this Court or the Court of Appeals. RAP 13.4(b)(1)-(2). This Court may also accept review if the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court, RAP 13.4(b)(4). This Court should accept review for both of these reasons.

1. Division III's Decision Contradicts Longstanding Principles Established by Both the Supreme Court and Appellate Courts.

The statute at issue in this case plainly states:

"A landlord may not, based on the source of income of an otherwise eligible prospective tenant or current tenant ...

Make any distinction, discrimination, or restriction against a prospective tenant or current tenant in the price, terms, conditions, fees, or privileges relating to the rental, lease, or occupancy of real property or in the furnishing of any facilities or services in connection with the rental, lease, or occupancy of real property..."

RCW 59.18.255(1)(c)

It is undisputed in this case that Ms. Cooper's landlords intentionally and systematically set higher rental rates for her and literally thousands of other tenants throughout Washington, for the same rental unit, because she participates in "Section 8" housing assistance programs. *Cooper*, No. 39596-1-III, 2024 Wn. App. LEXIS 1856, at *1-2 (Ct. App. Sep. 17, 2024). The same landlords set lower rates for other tenants, who do not participate in "Section 8" housing assistance programs, for exactly the same rental unit. *Id*.

Over decades, Washington courts have repeatedly made clear that the RLTA is a remedial statute, which calls for both strict and liberal construction. It must be strictly construed by courts "in favor of the tenant," and liberally construed "to

accomplish the purpose for which it was enacted." *Silver*, 197 Wn.2d 535 at 548, 484 P.3d at 1257 (citing cases); *State v. Douty*, 92 Wn.2d 930, 936, 603 P.2d 373 (1979); *Randy Reynolds & Assocs. v. Harmon*, 193 Wn.2d 143, 156, 437 P.3d 677 (2019).

, ,

The lower court did not address how its interpretation of plain statutory language under RCW 59.18.255 incorporated these principles, instead narrowing the application of the statute's anti-discrimination provisions with deference toward the business interests of landlords:

By complying with the regulations from each program, Security Properties is able to sustain its business model while continuing to provide options for low-income tenants.

Cooper, No. 39596-1-III, 2024 Wn. App. LEXIS 1856, at *18.

The lower court also introduced an "unreasonable rent" standard a tenant must overcome, which does not appear anywhere in the statute, to vindicate a claim of income-based discrimination:

Here, there is no evidence or allegation that the rent Security Properties charges Ms. Cooper is not reasonable according to the method established by the [federal] regulations.

Id. at *19.

Applying this standard to Ms. Cooper, the lower court erroneously stated that Ms. Cooper "fails to produce any evidence that she is charged more rent because she receives a [Section 8] voucher," notwithstanding her landlord's uncontested, written affirmation that the rental rates for her apartment "are \$943 with out [sic] voucher and with [Section 8] voucher is \$1190," CP 135, as well as their open-court admission that "the crux of this, is that we charge different amounts of rent to Section 42 people than we do to Section 8 people, that's true." CP 1000. Eagle Pointe ICG, LLC, and Security Properties Residential, LLC, further (and incorrectly) claimed that the only reason they made such a distinction in rental rates is because state and federal law required them to set different rates based on tenants' participation or nonparticipation in different housing assistance programs. RP 47-51.3

While the fact that Ms. Cooper's landlords set higher rental rates for "Section 8" tenants than it sets for other tenants is repeatedly acknowledged by both parties and has never been disputed, the court below stated that Ms. Cooper "does not provide any authority or reasoning to support this position" that "she is the one paying a different rate." *Cooper*, No. 39596-1-III, 2024 Wn. App. LEXIS 1856, at *18. The lower court explained this by distinguishing the different rental rates by finding that it was non-"Section 8" tenants who paid a different (lower) rate than Ms. Cooper, not Ms. Cooper paying a different (higher) rate than them. *Id.* ("... it is the tenants in the Tax Credit Program that pay a different rate, not Ms. Cooper.").

³ The notion that Ms. Cooper's landlords were forced to set unequal rental rates was debunked by the trial court and acknowledged as such by Division III's analysis. *Cooper, LLC*, No. 39596-1-III, 2024 Wn. App. LEXIS 1856, at *9-12.

Both parties supplied evidence that the basis for Eagle Pointe ICG, LLC, and Security Properties Residential, LLC, setting higher rental rates for "Section 8" tenants was based on their participation in that particular housing assistance program independent of any prospective or imputed "reasonable rent" standard under RCW 59.18.255. Applying such a standard was never a factor in these proceedings and should not now be imputed into RCW 59.18.255's otherwise broad protections against discrimination based on tenants' source of income.

Virtually all of the lower court's substantive analysis and reasoning is focused on federal regulations pertaining to maximum rates allowed by different federal housing assistance programs, not Washington's anti-discrimination provisions under RCW 59.18.255 and the body of law that has developed over more than 50 years since the RLTA was first enacted in 1973.

The result of this is an unpublished decision, on a widespread issue of profound concern for Washington's

residential tenants, which is based not on longstanding principles of the state's landlord-tenant jurisprudence, but rather the application of federal regulations to the business operations of residential landlords. In this context, the lower court's ruling sets the stage for discord, confusion, and inconsistency among lower courts across the state. It falls to this Court to clarify and confirm how the RLTA's anti-discrimination provisions apply to discriminatory practices in residential housing for countless Washington tenants.

2. Division III's Decision Will Profoundly Affect the Rights and Interests of Residential Tenants Throughout Washington.

The protections afforded to residential tenants based on their source of income is an issue of widespread public interest throughout Washington. According to the US Census Bureau's most recent estimates, as of July 1, 2023, more than one-third of Washington residents lived in non owner-occupied housing. The University of Washington's Washington Center for Real Estate Research (WCRER) estimates that there are at least

516,978 residential housing units in the state with an average monthly rent of \$1,592. (App. B: University of Washington, Washington Center for Real Estate Research, *Washington Apartment Market Q3 2024* at 5;

https://wcrer.be.uw.edu/housing-market-data-toolkit/apartmentmarket-reports/). WCRER estimates that at least 155,000 of these units are occupied by persons who participate in state and/or federal housing assistance programs. (App. C: University of Washington, Washington Center for Real Estate Research, Subsidized Rental Housing Inventory 2023 at 2; https://wcrer.be.uw.edu/housing-market-datatoolkit/subsidized-rental-housing-profile/). Because these figures reflect the number of housing *units*, not the number of occupants who live within, the total number of tenants directly affected by the RLTA's anti-discrimination provisions is undoubtedly much higher. In these respects, the lower courts' decision to narrow the applicability of RCW 59.18.255 in favor of landlords' preferred business models affects the rights and

protections for hundreds of thousands of Washington's most vulnerable and insecure tenants, as evidenced by their participation in "Section 8" and other public housing programs.

In addition to setting higher or lower rental rates depending on whether or not a person participates in a particular housing assistance program, the practice of discriminatory rent setting also impacts the limited funds available to the programs and entities tasked with delivering assistance to eligible tenants. Charging more from "Section 8" participants than other tenants for exactly the same unit doesn't just affect the higher-paying tenant, but also the higher-paying assistance program, inevitably reducing the availability of assistance to people who need it.

As Washington courts, including Division III, have previously acknowledged, "[t]he RLTA represents a series of compromises" between landlords and tenants. *Lian v. Stalik*, 106 Wn. App. 811, 819 (2001). The RTLA maintains this balance by ensuring that a "tenant benefits from the imposition

of specific affirmative duties imposed upon the landlord," while a "landlord benefits because while the RLTA imposes a lengthy list of specific duties, it also limits the remedies available to the tenant for breach of those duties." *Id.* As a remedial statute, the RLTA should be construed liberally in favor of the remedies it provides. *See, e.g., Naches Valley Sch. Dist. No. JT3 v. Cruzen*, 54 Wn. App. 388, 399 (1989) ("remedial statute should be liberally construed to effect its purpose"). Applying the RLTA in a manner that limits tenants' statutory rights and protections against specific types of discrimination is anathema to the fundamental purposes the RLTA.

The lower court's published opinion therefore involves an issue of widespread economic and social interest, not only for residential tenants themselves, but also for the programs and entities that support statewide housing assistance programs.

This court should accept review of Ms. Cooper's case to provide clarity, consistency, and reliability for countless tenants

and housing assistance programs that are directly affected by Division III's ruling.

4. Ms. Cooper is Entitled to an Award of Costs and Fees.

Pursuant to RCW 59.18.255(4), Ms. Cooper is entitled to recovery of her costs and fees if she is determined to be the prevailing party in this action. Pursuant to RAP 18.1, she requests that this Court make such an award as warranted.

F. CONCLUSION

Based upon the authorities and arguments herein, Ms.

Cooper petitions this Court to accept final review of this matter.

The undersigned certifies that the foregoing content consists of 4,004 words, not including caption, introductory tables, signature block, or appendices. DATED this 15th day of November, 2024, and respectfully submitted,

Brian G. Cameron, WSBA #44905

Shayne Sutherland, WSBA #44593

Attorneys for Petitioner