FILED
Court of Appeals
Division III
State of Washington
12/13/2024 4:07 PM

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 12/16/2024 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

Case #: 1036108

COA NO. 39596-1-III

COURT OF APPEALS, STATE OF WASHINGTON, DIVISION III

HEIDI COOPER,

Appellant,

VS.

EAGLE POINTE ICG, LLC, a Washington limited liability company, and SECURITY PROPERTIES RESIDENTIAL, LLC, a Washington corporation,

Respondents.

ANSWER OPPOSING PETITION FOR REVIEW

Vicki L. Mitchell, WSBA No. 31259
Andrew Mitchell, WSBA No. 30399
MITCHELL & MITCHELL PLLC
1710 N. Washington St., Suite 200
Spokane, WA 99205
T: 509-315-9890 / F: 509-315-9891
Attorneys for Respondents

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

V. ARGUMENT

Ms. Cooper chose to participate in the HCV program, with the higher rent rate than the LIHTC program, and is now looking for a Court to say that choice is a discrimination by SPR under RCW 59.18.255(1)(c). The Court of Appeals correctly declined to do so, instead harmonizing the Federal low income programs and law with the Washington statute and preserving the availability – for Ms. Cooper and other tenants – of more low income housing options and resources. This decision by the Court of Appeals does not threaten or confuse but rather preserves and protects the rights of low income tenants such as Ms. Cooper and thus there is risk of harm to a

substantial public interest. Ms. Cooper's Petition for Review should be denied.

Before addressing Ms. Cooper's arguments in her Petition, SPR would note that the most significant conclusions of the Court of Appeals were that RCW 59.18.255 1) does not require landlords to charge the same rent to all tenants AND 2) does not prohibit landlords from charging different rents "when the difference is based on a legal reason apart from where the tenant obtains their income." Cooper v. Eagle Pointe ICG, LLC, 2024 Wash. App. LEXIS 1856, *16-17.

These two conclusions form the basis for the Court's opinions affirming the dismissal of Ms. Cooper's lawsuit. Under the first conclusion, Ms. Cooper's argument that different equals discrimination fails and under the second conclusion, SPR had a legitimate legal basis for charging the different rent rates under the two different Federal programs, and did not charge LIHTC tenants less than Ms. Cooper because of where her income came from in violation of RCW

59.18.255(1)(c). Thus, under the Court's interpretation of RCW 59.18.255, there was no evidence SPR violated the applicable statute and the Court affirmed dismissal of Ms. Cooper's lawsuit.

Ms. Cooper does not challenge these conclusions or the Court's decision based thereon in her Petition for Review. Instead, Ms. Cooper makes a public policy and purpose argument to contend the Court of Appeals should have construed the statute in her favor, regardless of the language, because she is the tenant and the law requires strict construction in favor of tenants. However, the law she cites – and the law she omits – does not support Ms. Cooper's position.

A. The Court of Appeals Decision Upholds the Principles, Purpose and Intent of the RLTA and RCW 59.18.255.

Ms. Cooper's first argument is that the decision of the Court of Appeals contradicts the well established principles, purpose and intent of the RLTA as applied by Washington Courts for decades. *Petition*, p. 11-12. She contends that the

Act is to be strictly construed in favor of tenants but also liberally construed to accomplish the purpose for which it was enacted and she cites cases in support both of these requirements. *Petition*, p. 7-8, 12-13.

However, what Ms. Cooper does not state, anywhere in her Petition, is what the actual purpose **is** of the RLTA or RCW 59.18.255.

"The Residential Landlord-Tenant Act of 1973 (RLTA), ch 59.18 RCW, governs the rights, responsibilities, and remedies of residential landlords and tenants." <u>Lockett v. Saturno</u>, 21 Wn. App. 2d 216, 221, 505 P.3d 157 (2022). The RLTA was designed and intended to maximize the obligations of the landlords, protect tenant rights, and balance the bargaining positions between them in residential leasing. <u>Id.</u> (citing <u>Silver v. Rudeen Mgmt. Co.</u>, 197 Wn.2d 535, 548, 484 P.3d 1251 (2021)).

"In 2018, the legislature amended the RLTA to include a new statute, RCW 59.18.255, prohibiting source-of-income

discrimination by landlords." <u>Id.</u> "The intent of the statute was 'to ensure housing options." <u>Id.</u>, at 221-222 (quoting LAWS of 2018, ch. 66, §1) (emphasis added).

Thus, the Court has expressly recognized that one of the purposes of the RLTA generally and of RCW 59.18.255 specifically is to increase low income housing options for low income tenants. <u>Id.</u> This case law, stating this purpose, is not new to Ms. Cooper; it was included in the briefing and record before the Court of Appeals and is quoted in the Court of Appeals' decision. <u>Cooper</u>, 2024 Wash. App. LEXIS 1856 at *16.

Yet Ms. Cooper fails to mention this law or the purpose of RCW 59.18.255 anywhere in her Petition, instead focusing on the requirement that the RLTA to be strictly construed in favor of tenants. Her arguments underscore that she does not understand (or accept) the analysis or conclusions of the Court of Appeals, and thus how the Court harmonized the Federal

programs with the statute Act and statute to serve the purpose of RCW 59.18.255 to provide more housing options.

First, she argues that the Court of Appeals failed to follow the "principles" for construing the RLTA both liberally and strictly by narrowing RCW 59.18.255 to serve the business interests of landlords. *Petition, p. 13*. However, what the Court actually said – and Ms. Cooper quotes this language in her Petition – was that by complying with the regulations from the HCV and LIHTC programs, SPR can sustain its business model "while continuing to provide options for low-income tenants." Cooper, 2024 Wash. App. LEXIS 1856 at *18 (emphasis added). Ms. Cooper apparently got hung up on the first part of the sentence and missed the second part, where the Court of Appeals expressly explained how its interpretation and analysis served the purpose of RCW 59.18.255 by keeping SPR in business so it can continue to provide options for low income housing.

Next, Ms. Cooper argues the Court of Appeals incorrectly inserted a "reasonableness" requirement or standard into its analysis of RCW 59.18.255. *Petition, p. 13, 16.* However, what the Court of Appeals actually said was, again, SPR's compliance with the Federal programs increased low income housing options – thus serving the purpose of RCW 59.18.255:

When the rent charged to a tenant in the Voucher Program is higher than the rent charged to a tenant in the Tax Credit Program, the regulations provide a specific method for determining the reasonable rent that can be charged to the tenant in the Voucher program. See 24 C.F.R. § 982.507(c)(2). Here, there is no evidence or allegation that the rent Security Properties charges Ms. Cooper is not reasonable according to the method established by the regulations. Allowing Security Properties to set different rents based on the rules and regulations of the two programs ensures that low-income tenants have increased housing options.

Cooper, 2024 Wash. App. LEXIS 1856 at *18-19 (emphasis added). Thus, the Court of Appeals did not insert a reasonableness requirement into its analysis of RCW 59.18.255,

but instead found its interpretation of the statute, allowing SPR to charge different rent rates to different tenants as contemplated by the Federal regulations, served the purpose of the state statute by increasing low income housing options. <u>Id.</u>

Finally, Ms. Cooper argued the Court of Appeals should not have focused its analysis and reasoning on the Federal programs or Federal law, but should have stuck to the controlling law under RCW 59.18.255 and the RLTA. *Petition, p. 16.* This is ironic, given Ms. Cooper failed to cite or rely on the Lockett case, from Washington, expressly stating what the purpose is of RCW 59.18.255. As noted above, this is the case the Court of Appeals relied upon and cited in making its critical conclusions that RCW 59.18.255 does not require landlords to charge tenants the same rent and does not prohibit landlords from charging different rent rates based on a legitimate legal reason.

What is more, it is Ms. Cooper's own amended lawsuit claiming discrimination between rent rates for HCV and

LIHTC tenants put these federal regulations at issue. As the Court of Appeals concluded, RCW 59.18.255 cannot prohibit the different rent rates these Federal regulations expressly authorize, or an issue of federal preemption will arise, and by interpreting the state statute to permit SPR to participate in both Federal programs and charge different rent rates thereunder, the Court is avoiding preemption AND increasing low income housing options as intended by the statute and the RLTA overall.

Again, Ms. Cooper's argument misunderstands what the Court of Appeals did in its decision and, specifically, how that decision harmonized the statute Ms. Cooper sued under with the Federal programs that set both rents she raised to support her lawsuit. Ms. Cooper's lawsuit combined these state and federal laws, the Court of Appeals just interpreted and then reconciled them. The significant public issue of low income housing for tenants is actually served by the decision of the

Court of Appeals and Ms. Cooper's Petition for Review should be denied.

B. The Court of Appeals Decision Maintains and Protects the Rights and Interests of Tenants Throughout Washington State.

Finally, relying on data that was never part of the record before the Court of Appeals, Ms. Cooper argues that the decision of the Court of Appeals present a significant public interest because there are so many tenants in Washington State. *Petition, p. 17-18.* However, as detailed above, those many, many tenants are the ones that are actually served and protected by the decision of the Court of Appeals, because it harmonizes the state statute with Federal law and permits landlords like SPR to stay in business and provide more low income housing options to this higher number of tenants.

Ms. Cooper's arguments in this section are just a reiteration of the same arguments she makes throughout her Petition – namely, that SPR discriminates in violation of RCW 59.18.255 because it charges her higher rent than other tenants,

regardless of the reason. For public policy reasons, Ms. Cooper wants the Court to ignore the legitimate reason SPR charges the different rent rates and the fact that she chose the HCV program that charges her the higher rent, instead of choosing the LIHTC program with the lower rent. Again, Ms. Cooper is trying to find a court that will make her choice of HVC over LIHTC and make that discrimination by SPR under RCW 59.18.255. This is not an issue of substantial public interest, it is Ms. Cooper seeing an opportunity to make some money off the RLTA and RCW 59.18.255 – which was never the purpose of the Act or statute. Ms. Cooper's Petition for Review should be denied.

C. No Authority for Award of Costs and Fees.

Finally, Ms. Cooper seeks an award of costs and fees if she is the prevailing party, pursuant to RAP 18.1. However, RAP 18.1 does not authorize the award of costs or fees to a prevailing party and does not otherwise authorize Ms. Cooper to collect costs and fees. SPR therefore objects to any award of

costs and fees to Ms. Cooper under RAP 18.1 at this point in the proceedings.

I certify that the total word count of this document, exclusive of the portion specified by RAP 18.17(b), is 4,121 words.

DATED this 13th day of December 2024.

MITCHELL & MITCHELL PLLC

By

Vicki L. Mitchell, WSBA No. 31259 Andrew Mitchell, WSBA No. 30399

Attorneys for Respondents, Eagle Pointe ICG, LLC &

Security Properties Residential, LLC